Kenai River Drift Gillnet Pilot Study at River Mile 19, 2021

by Robert N. Begich Anthony Eskelin and Richard E. Brenner

July 2022

Alaska Department of Fish and Game

Divisions of Sport Fish and Commercial Fisheries



Symbols and Abbreviations

The following symbols and abbreviations, and others approved for the Système International d'Unités (SI), are used without definition in the following reports by the Divisions of Sport Fish and of Commercial Fisheries: Fishery Manuscripts, Fishery Data Series Reports, Fishery Management Reports, and Special Publications. All others, including deviations from definitions listed below, are noted in the text at first mention, as well as in the titles or footnotes of tables, and in figure or figure captions.

Weights and measures (metric)		General		Mathematics, statistics	
centimeter	cm	Alaska Administrative		all standard mathematical	
deciliter	dL	Code	AAC	signs, symbols and	
gram	g	all commonly accepted		abbreviations	
hectare	ha	abbreviations	e.g., Mr., Mrs.,	alternate hypothesis	H _A
kilogram	kg		AM, PM, etc.	base of natural logarithm	е
kilometer	km	all commonly accepted		catch per unit effort	CPUE
liter	L	professional titles	e.g., Dr., Ph.D.,	coefficient of variation	CV
meter	m		R.N., etc.	common test statistics	(F, t, χ^2 , etc.)
milliliter	mL	at	@	confidence interval	CI
millimeter	mm	compass directions:		correlation coefficient	
		east	E	(multiple)	R
Weights and measures (English)		north	Ν	correlation coefficient	
cubic feet per second	ft ³ /s	south	S	(simple)	r
foot	ft	west	W	covariance	cov
gallon	gal	copyright	©	degree (angular)	0
inch	in	corporate suffixes:		degrees of freedom	df
mile	mi	Company	Co.	expected value	Ε
nautical mile	nmi	Corporation	Corp.	greater than	>
ounce	oz	Incorporated	Inc.	greater than or equal to	\geq
pound	lb	Limited	Ltd.	harvest per unit effort	HPUE
quart	qt	District of Columbia	D.C.	less than	<
vard	vd	et alii (and others)	et al.	less than or equal to	\leq
5	5	et cetera (and so forth)	etc.	logarithm (natural)	ln
Time and temperature		exempli gratia		logarithm (base 10)	log
day	d	(for example)	e.g.	logarithm (specify base)	log ₂ etc.
degrees Celsius	°C	Federal Information		minute (angular)	,
degrees Fahrenheit	°F	Code	FIC	not significant	NS
degrees kelvin	К	id est (that is)	i.e.	null hypothesis	Ho
hour	h	latitude or longitude	lat or long	percent	%
minute	min	monetary symbols	·	probability	Р
second	s	(U.S.)	\$,¢	probability of a type I error	
		months (tables and		(rejection of the null	
Physics and chemistry		figures): first three		hypothesis when true)	α
all atomic symbols		letters	Jan,,Dec	probability of a type II error	
alternating current	AC	registered trademark	®	(acceptance of the null	
ampere	А	trademark	тм	hypothesis when false)	β
calorie	cal	United States		second (angular)	"
direct current	DC	(adjective)	U.S.	standard deviation	SD
hertz	Hz	United States of		standard error	SE
horsepower	hp	America (noun)	USA	variance	
hydrogen ion activity	ъF	U.S.C.	United States	population	Var
(negative log of)	F		Code	sample	var
parts per million	ppm	U.S. state	use two-letter	ı	
parts per thousand	ppt.		abbreviations		
1 1	%o		(e.g., AK, WA)		
volts	V				
watts	W				

SPECIAL PUBLICATION NO. 22-15

KENAI RIVER DRIFT GILLNETTING PILOT STUDY AT RIVER MILE 19, 2021

by Robert N. Begich Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Sport Fish, Soldotna Anthony Eskelin Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Sport Fish, Soldotna and Richard E. Brenner Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Juneau

> Alaska Department of Fish and Game Division of Sport Fish, Research and Technical Services 333 Raspberry Road, Anchorage, Alaska, 99518-1565

> > July 2022

This investigation was partially financed by the Federal Aid in Sport Fish Restoration Act (16 U.S.C.777-777K) under Project F-10-35, Job No. S-2-5c.

The Special Publication series was established by the Division of Sport Fish in 1991 for the publication of techniques and procedures manuals, informational pamphlets, special subject reports to decision-making bodies, symposia and workshop proceedings, application software documentation, in-house lectures, and similar documents. The series became a joint divisional series in 2004 with the Division of Commercial Fisheries. Special Publications are intended for fishery and other technical professionals. Special Publications are available through the Alaska State Library, Alaska Resources Library and Information Services (ARLIS), and on the Internet: http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/publications/. This publication has undergone editorial and peer review.

Product names used in this publication are included for completeness and do not constitute product endorsement. The Alaska Department of Fish and Game does not endorse or recommend any specific company or their products.

Robert N. Begich, Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Sport Fish, 43961 Kalifornsky Beach Road, Suite B, Soldotna, AK 99669-8276, USA

Anthony Eskelin, Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Sport Fish, 43961 Kalifornsky Beach Road, Suite B, Soldotna, AK 99669-8276, USA

and

Richard E. Brenner, Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, 1255 W. 8th Street, Juneau, AK 99801, USA

This document should be cited as follows:

Begich, R. N., A. Eskelin, and R. E. Brenner. 2022. Kenai River drift gillnet pilot study at river mile 19, 2021. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 22-15, Anchorage.

The Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADF&G) administers all programs and activities free from discrimination based on race, color, national origin, age, sex, religion, marital status, pregnancy, parenthood, or disability. The department administers all programs and activities in compliance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990, the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, and Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972.

If you believe you have been discriminated against in any program, activity, or facility please write: ADF&G ADA Coordinator, P.O. Box 115526, Juneau, AK 99811-5526

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, 4401 N. Fairfax Drive, MS 2042, Arlington, VA 22203

Office of Equal Opportunity, U.S. Department of the Interior, 1849 C Street NW MS 5230, Washington DC 20240

The department's ADA Coordinator can be reached via phone at the following numbers:

(VOICE) 907-465-6077, (Statewide Telecommunication Device for the Deaf) 1-800-478-3648,

(Juneau TDD) 907-465-3646, or (FAX) 907-465-6078

For information on alternative formats and questions on this publication, please contact: ADF&G Division of Sport Fish, Research and Technical Services, 333 Raspberry Road, Anchorage AK 99518 (907) 267-2375

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

LIST OF TABLES	i
LIST OF FIGURES	i
LIST OF APPENDICES	ii
ABSTRACT	1
INTRODUCTION	1
OBJECTIVES	3
Primary Objectives	3
Secondary Objectives	3
METHODS	4
Study Design	4
Data Collection	5
Data Analysis	6
RESULTS	6
RECOMMENDATIONS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES CITED	
APPENDIX A: SAMPLING FORM	15

LIST OF TABLES

Table

Page

abic	1	age
1	Dates and mesh sizes used during gillnetting at Kenai River RM 19, 2021	4
2	Number and proportion of sockeye salmon captured in drift gillnets at Kenai River RM 19 by date and	
	bank compared to all species captured, 2021.	7
3	Number and proportion of sockeye salmon compared to all species caught by date, bank, location, and	
	distance from shore, 2021.	7
4	Number and proportion of sockeye salmon by bank and distance from shore compared to other species captured, August 2021	9
5	Summary of drift gillnet fishing effort in minutes fished by gillnet mesh size, day, and river bank,	
	2021	10
6	Number and proportion of sockeye salmon captured relative to all fish species captured by date and mesh size, 2021.	11

LIST OF FIGURES

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appe	ndix	Page
A1	RM 19 Kenai River drift gillnetting sampling form	16

ABSTRACT

In August 2021, we investigated the feasibility of using drift gillnets at river mile (RM) 19 to examine the species composition and spatial distribution of salmon migrating past the Division of Commercial Fisheries sonar site. Currently, the site uses dual-frequency identification sonar (DIDSON) to estimate sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*) passage, and fish wheels are used to sample salmon for species composition and biological characteristics. Drift gillnetting was conducted for 6 days during August 5–24, 2021, using 9.1 m length gillnets consisting of 1 of 3 mesh sizes: 4 in, $4\frac{3}{4}$ in, or 5 in (10.2, 12.1, and 12.7 cm, respectively). Gillnetting occurred in 6 areas (0–10 m, 10–20 m, and 20–30 m) off each river bank, representing the area of the river where sonar data are collected to estimate passage of migrating sockeye salmon (sonar zones), and in 2 areas 0–10 m downstream of the fish wheel located on each river bank (fish wheel zones). Sockeye salmon composed the majority of the catch in both fish wheel and nearshore sonar zones. Sockeye salmon proportions declined offshore (>10 m) and during later sampling dates. Our results show that drift gillnets of various mesh sizes can be employed to capture migrating salmon at the Kenai River RM 19 sonar site. We present recommendations for future study designs.

Keywords: Sockeye salmon, *Oncorhynchus nerka*, Upper Cook Inlet, UCI, Kenai River, drift gillnets, sonar, fish wheels

INTRODUCTION

The Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADF&G), Division of Commercial Fisheries, uses a DIDSON (dual-frequency identification sonar) to estimate the number of sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*) passing river mile (RM) 19 on the Kenai River in Upper Cook Inlet, Alaska (Figure 1). The total number of salmon passing the sonar site, along with fish wheel catches for species apportionment, are currently used to estimate the number of sockeye salmon in the total sonar passage estimate at RM 19 (Glick and Faulkner 2019). The Division of Sport Fish also uses these estimates to manage the inriver sport fishery to achieve the late-run sockeye salmon escapement goal. The purpose of this study is to determine if drift gillnets are a feasible and safe method for characterizing species apportionment at RM 19 during late-run sockeye salmon passage.

The Kenai River drainage in western Kenai Peninsula is approximately 5,200 km² and is the major sockeye salmon producing watershed in Cook Inlet (Marston and Frothingham 2021). The Kenai River also supports inriver sport fisheries for coho salmon (*O. kisutch*), pink salmon (*O. gorbuscha*), and Chinook salmon (*O. tshawytscha*). The Division of Commercial Fisheries' long-standing comprehensive sockeye salmon stock assessment program drives the implementation of the *Kenai River Late-Run Sockeye Salmon Management Plan 5AAC 21.360* and relies on the RM 19 DIDSON to formulate sockeye salmon abundance estimates for the inriver run and serves as the basis for the spawning escapement estimates. The Kenai River sockeye salmon assessment program began using sonar systems deployed on both banks of the Kenai River at RM 19 in 1968 to enumerate passage and estimate the annual migration of sockeye salmon into the Kenai River watershed (Davis 1971; Namvedt et al. 1977). Over several decades, the sockeye salmon stock assessment program has undergone numerous improvements to more accurately estimate inriver abundance, including a move from single beam (Bendix Corp.) sonar to the more advanced multibeam DIDSON technology in 2007 (Belcher et al. 2001, 2002; Maxwell et al. 2011).

Inriver assessment of sockeye salmon requires an estimate of the proportion of sockeye salmon in the total sonar salmon passage estimate. Initially, during the development of the RM 19 sonar program, gillnets and fish wheels were fished to obtain age, sex, and length (ASL) samples for brood stock information, but only fish wheels were used to apportion (by species) the total sonar salmon passage estimates, especially during even years in August, when the sockeye salmon run was ending and large numbers of pink salmon entered the river (Davis 1971; Namvedt et al. 1977). Fish wheels were operated on both banks of the Kenai River at RM 19 until the mid-1980s. However, during subsequent years, ADF&G has primarily operated only a north bank fish wheel due to budget cuts, issues pertaining to private land ownership on the south bank, and the prevailing view that species composition was similar between fish wheels on either bank (Ken Tarbox, retired Commercial Fisheries Biologist, ADF&G, Soldotna, AK, personal communication). As such, from the mid-1980s through 2020, ASL and species apportionment has been conducted primarily from the north bank fish wheel.



Figure 1.–Map showing location of the Division of Commercial Fisheries Kenai River sonar site used to enumerate sockeye salmon passage at river mile 19.

Historically, species apportionment was not considered a significant source of error in Kenai River sockeye salmon passage estimates, and sonar counts were generally only apportioned to species by the fish wheels in years when other species of salmon reached 5%. Mark-recapture studies were conducted in 2006–2008, which indicated that apportioned DIDSON passage estimates calculated from the north bank fish wheel were relatively unbiased and precise (Willette et al. 2012). During several recent years, sockeye salmon passage at RM 19 has been later than previously recorded. For example, the 2014–2015 and 2017–2018 sockeye salmon run midpoints ranged from 6 to 11 days late compared to the historical average (1979–2021) midpoint of the run. In 2020, the run passage midpoint at the sonar site was approximately 14 days later than

the historical average (Glick and Wilburn $Draft^1$), which is due in part to the cessation of the commercial Eastside set gillnet fishery on July 22, 2020 (thereby increasing sockeye salmon passage at RM 19). The later timing of the sockeye salmon migration into the Kenai River along with reduced commercial fishing in August has resulted in a greater overlap of both sockeye salmon and pink salmon at the RM 19 sonar site during August. Overlap of the 2 species is more likely to occur during even years because Kenai River pink salmon are "even year" fish, with more abundant runs during even years.

Even though ADF&G has validated the north bank fish wheel as a valuable apportionment tool (Glick and Willette 2016), there is interest to investigate gillnetting as a potential method to apportion salmon estimates at RM 19 in areas not covered by the fish wheel. Changes to the existing fish wheel–based apportionment method may become important if the sockeye salmon runs continue to have later run timing and overlap with pink salmon runs to a greater extent than was observed historically.

OBJECTIVES

This pilot study was initiated to explore the feasibility of using drift gillnets to capture migrating salmon at the Kenai River RM 19 sonar site. Information from this project may be used to develop methods for examining spatial and temporal salmon migration characteristics by species to determine if future projects using drift gillnets can adequately apportion daily sonar passage estimates to species if necessary. The 2021 objectives were as follows:

PRIMARY OBJECTIVES

- Estimate the daily proportion of sockeye salmon captured in gillnets from the nearshore south and north bank fish wheel zones at RM 19 such that the proportion estimate is within 15 percentage points of the true value 95% of the time.
- Estimate the daily proportion of sockeye salmon captured in gillnets from the offshore south and north bank ensonified zones at RM 19 such that the proportion estimate is within 15 percentage points of the true value 95% of the time.

SECONDARY OBJECTIVES

- 1) Determine the feasibility of using gillnets to capture salmon migrating past the RM 19 sonar project site.
- 2) Determine the feasibility of collecting, holding, sampling, and marking (visible external fin clip or tag) salmon captured during gillnetting operations at RM 19.
- 3) Determine the feasibility of designing future studies to examine differences in the species composition among gillnets of various mesh sizes.

¹ Glick, W. J., and D. Wilburn. *Draft.* Kenai and Kasilof Rivers sockeye salmon inriver passage and escapement studies, 2021. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Data Series, Anchorage.

METHODS

STUDY DESIGN

For 6 days during August 5–24, 2021, 3 separate drift gillnets (9.1 m in length and 3.1 m deep) were fished at the RM 19 sonar site (Table 1 and Figure 2). The gillnets were 1 of 3 mesh sizes: 4 in (10.2 cm), 4³/₄ in (12.1 cm), or 5 in (12.7 cm). Sampling periods were conducted over midday hours that varied by start and stop time, length of fishing period (hours), and mesh size fished on the days sampled. Gillnets were fished systematically when possible, drifting downstream through the river along the south and north banks at the sonar site. The systematic sampling consisted of 1 "fishwheel zone" and 3 different areas of the river off of each bank ensonified by the sonar, hereafter referred to as "sonar zones." Each fish wheel zone was defined as the nearshore area immediately downstream of each fishwheel from the riverbank out approximately 10 m toward the thalweg. The 3 sonar zones on each bank consisted of nearshore and offshore areas that collectively spanned from the bank in 10 m increments to a total distance of 30 m toward the thalweg. The 3 sonar zones coincided with the 30 m area of the river covered by the sonar (Figure 2). Set placement and retrieval was guided by fixed landmarks for nearshore sets, and a range finder as well as fixed landmarks were used for offshore sets to ensure the nets fished each of the 10 m wide sonar zones similarly through each sampling day. In the fish wheel zones, the 10 m wide drift zones were approximately 25 m in length, whereas the sonar zones were approximately 50 m. The drift time depended on the speed of the current and was less for all south bank zones due to a faster current than north bank zones with a slower current. For each drift, the net was deployed upstream of the designated zone and made taut by field staff to drift perpendicularly to the current through the designated zone. Drifts were terminated if the net was fishing outside of the designated area, the fixed landmark was reached indicating the end of the drift area was reached, or the net became snagged on the shoreline or was not fishing properly.

To attain the desired precision for estimating proportions of sockeye salmon, the sample size goal was to capture at least 43 fish from each zone or 172 fish from each bank for a total of 344 fish each day, if the 43-fish sample size was equally distributed among all 8 zones (Thompson 1987).

Secondary Objective 2 was to determine the feasibility of collecting, holding, sampling, and marking salmon captured during gillnetting operations at RM 19. However, no attempt was made to do this because it was apparent it would not be feasible due to difficulties in achieving sample size goals (see *Recommendations*), the small working area on boat for 3-staff, and the short handling time to process captured fish.

Table	1Dates	and	mesh
sizes used	l during g	illnett	ing at
Kenai Riv	er RM 19,	2021.	

Date	Mesh size (in)
5 Aug	4¾
10 Aug	43/4
12 Aug	4, 43/4
17 Aug	$4, 4^{3/4}, 5$
19 Aug	4, 4 ³ /4, 5
24 Aug	4, 4 ³ /4, 5



Figure 2.–Schematic diagram (not to scale) of the location of drift gillnetting zones at the RM 19 Kenai River sonar site, 2021.

DATA COLLECTION

For each day sampled, multiple sets occurred on each side of the river, and therefore data were collected in sampling replicates. Each sampling replicate was a total of 8 sets, with 4 sets per bank: 1 set in the fishwheel zone on each bank plus 3 sets in the sonar zones off each bank (Figure 2). Replicates were undertaken in turn such that sets at the south bank were followed by sets at the north bank before returning to the south bank to begin the next replicate. The 3 sonar zone sets started near the bank and moved offshore in 10 m increments for the next 2 sets before returning to begin the next replicate in the fish wheel zone again. For days when gillnets of more than 1 mesh size were fished, a replicate was completed before the mesh size was changed. The bank, zone (fish wheel or sonar), start and stop time, and number of fish caught by species for each set was recorded electronically using data entry software on a Juniper Systems Inc. Allegro II field computer (Appendix A1). After each sampling day, the field computer data were downloaded to a desktop computer and converted into comma separated text (.csv) format for analysis. In addition, crews recorded information about fish handling, physical riverine characteristics of the zones, boat traffic, interactions with the public, and extent of downstream travel while fish and net handling.

DATA ANALYSIS

The daily proportion estimate (\hat{p}_{sbz}) of sockeye salmon from zone z (fish wheel nearshore, midshore, or offshore) of bank b (north bank or south bank) was calculated using the equation below:

$$\hat{p}_{sbz} = \frac{n_{sbz}}{n_{bz}} \tag{1}$$

where n_{bz} is the total number of fish sampled from zone z of bank b, and n_{sbz} is the number of sockeye salmon sampled from the same zone.

The variance of \hat{p}_{shz} was calculated as follows (Cochran 1977):

$$\operatorname{var}(\hat{p}_{sbz}) = \frac{\hat{p}_{sbz}(1 - \hat{p}_{sbz})}{(n_{bz} - 1)}$$
(2)

RESULTS

Daily catches for all zones off both banks combined never reached the desired precision level for Primary Objectives 1 and 2 and ranged from 194 fish on August 5 to 64 fish on August 24, of which sockeye salmon composed a majority of the catch each day (Table 2). The catches from the fish wheel zones on each bank were dominated by sockeye salmon: the south bank fish wheel zone ranged from 0.97 (SE = 0.03) on August 5 to 0.64 (SE = 0.13) on August 24, and the north bank fish wheel zone ranged from 0.95 (SE = 0.03) to 0.75 (SE = 0.11) over the same period (Table 3). The proportions of sockeye salmon in the sonar zones were typically higher for the nearshore sonar zone (0-10 m) than for either offshore sonar zones (10-20 m and 20-30 m; Table 3). Overall, fewer Pacific salmon were caught in the offshore south bank sonar zones than the north bank offshore sonar zones (Table 4). In addition, for all but 1 sampling day (August 17), the proportion of sockeye salmon caught in south bank offshore sonar zones (10-30 m) was consistently lower than the proportion of sockeye salmon captured from north bank offshore sonar zones (Tables 4). It should be noted that because this study occurred in an odd year (2021) and Kenai River pink salmon are "even year" fish, few pink salmon entered the Kenai River. Drift time varied by river bank and was approximately 50% less on the south bank in comparison to the north bank, except on August 19, when total drift fishing effort was about 36 minutes on the south bank and 40 minutes on the north bank (Table 5).

Three mesh sizes were fished on 4 of the 6 sampling days: August 12, 17, 19, and 24 (Table 5). On days when multiple mesh sizes were used, the 4 in (10.2 cm) mesh captured larger total numbers of fish of all species; however, the proportion of sockeye salmon captured was greater for the $4\frac{3}{4}$ in (12.1 cm) mesh on August 12 (0.82, SD = 0.07) and the 5 in (12.7 cm) mesh on August 17 (0.86, SD = 0.08; Table 6). Species composition of catches included coho, Chinook, and pink salmon as well as rainbow trout (*O. mykiss*), Dolly Varden (*Salvelinus malma*), and round whitefish (*Prosopium cylindraceum*; Table 6).

		Numbe	Number of fish captured			
Date	Bank	Sockeye salmon	Other ^a	Total	sockeye	SE
5 Aug	South	47	2	49	0.96	0.03
	North	130	15	145	0.9	0.03
10 Aug	South	31	9	40	0.78	0.07
	North	103	13	116	0.89	0.03
12 Aug	South	22	12	34	0.65	0.08
	North	65	17	82	0.79	0.05
17 Aug	South	28	6	34	0.82	0.07
	North	79	25	104	0.76	0.04
19 Aug	South	25	11	36	0.69	0.08
	North	69	14	83	0.83	0.04
24 Aug	South	13	12	25	0.52	0.1
	North	30	9	39	0.77	0.07

Table 2.–Number and proportion of sockeye salmon captured in drift gillnets at Kenai River RM 19 by date and bank compared to all species captured, 2021.

^a Other species include pink salmon (O. gorbuscha), Chinook salmon (O. tshawytscha), coho salmon (O. kisutch), rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss), Dolly Varden (Salvelinus malma), and round whitefish (Prosopium cylindraceum).

Table 3.-Number and proportion of sockeye salmon compared to all species caught by date, bank, location, and distance from shore, 2021.

			Distance from	Number of fi	d	Proportion		
Date	Bank	Location	shore (m)	Sockeye salmon	Other ^a	Total	sockeye	SE
5 Aug	South	Fishwheel	0–10	29	1	30	0.97	0.03
		Sonar	0–10	16	0	16	1	0
		Sonar	10–20	2	1	3	0.67	0.33
		Sonar	20-30	0	0	0	0	0
	North	Fishwheel	0–10	38	2	40	0.95	0.03
		Sonar	0–10	37	3	40	0.93	0.04
		Sonar	10–20	40	2	42	0.95	0.03
		Sonar	20–30	15	8	23	0.65	0.1
10 4.00	South	Fishwhaal	0.10	21	7	20	0.75	0.08
10 Aug	South	Fishwheel	0-10	21	/	28	0.75	0.08
		Sonar	0–10	9	1	10	0.9	0.1
		Sonar	10-20	1	1	2	0.5	0.5
		Sonar	20-30	0	0	0	0	0
	North	Fishwheel	0–10	28	1	29	0.97	0.03
		Sonar	0–10	41	4	45	0.91	0.04
		Sonar	10–20	27	3	30	0.9	0.06
		Sonar	20–30	7	5	12	0.58	0.15
12 Aug	South	Fishwheel	0–10	18	2	20	0.9	0.07
6		Sonar	0-10	4	5	9	0.44	0.18
		Sonar	10–20	0	3	3	0	0
		Sonar	20-30	0	2	2	0	0

-continued-

			Distance from	Number of f	ish capture	ed	Proportion	
Date	Bank	Location	shore	Sockeye salmon	Other ^a	Total	sockeye	SE
12 Aug	North	Fishwheel	0–10	15	5	20	0.75	0.1
		Sonar	0–10	34	1	35	0.97	0.03
		Sonar	10-20	13	7	20	0.65	0.11
		Sonar	20–30	3	4	7	0.43	0.2
17 4.00	Couth	Fishwihasl	0 10	11	1	12	0.02	0.09
17 Aug	South	Sonor	0-10	11	1	12	0.92	0.08
		Solial	0-10	13	0	15	1	0
		Sonar	10-20	0	4	4	0	0 22
	NI	Sonar Eisterstesst	20-30	2	1	2 20	0.07	0.55
	North	Fishwheel	0-10	29	5	52 50	0.91	0.05
		Sonar	0-10	45	5	50	0.9	0.04
		Sonar	10-20	3	9	12	0.25	0.13
		Sonar	20–30	2	8	10	0.2	0.13
19 Aug	South	Fishwheel	0–10	19	5	24	0.79	0.08
		Sonar	0–10	4	2	6	0.67	0.21
		Sonar	10-20	2	2	4	0.5	0.29
		Sonar	20-30	0	2	2	0	0
	North	Fishwheel	0–10	23	3	26	0.88	0.06
		Sonar	0–10	40	2	42	0.95	0.03
		Sonar	10-20	5	6	11	0.45	0.16
		Sonar	20–30	1	3	4	0.25	0.25
	a 1	D' 1 1 1	0.10		-			0.10
24 Aug	South	Fishwheel	0–10	9	5	14	0.64	0.13
		Sonar	0–10	4	2	6	0.67	0.21
		Sonar	10–20	0	1	1	0	0
		Sonar	20–30	0	4	4	0	0
	North	Fishwheel	0–10	12	4	16	0.75	0.11
		Sonar	0–10	7	0	7	1	0
		Sonar	10–20	5	5	10	0.5	0.17
		Sonar	20-30	6	0	6	1	0

Table 3.–Page 2 of 2.

^a Other species include pink salmon (*O. gorbuscha*), Chinook salmon (*O. tshawytscha*), coho salmon (*O. kisutch*), rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), Dolly Varden (*Salvelinus malma*), and round whitefish (*Prosopium cylindraceum*).

		South bank					North bank				
	Distance from	Number of fi	sh captured	1	Proportion		Number of f	Number of fish captured			
Date	shore (m)	Sockeye salmon	Other ^a	Total	sockeye (p)	SE	Sockeye salmon	Other ^a	Total	sockeye (p)	SE
5 Aug	0–10	45	1	46	0.98	0.02	75	5	80	0.94	0.03
	10-30	2	1	3	0.67	0.33	55	10	65	0.85	0.05
	0–30	47	2	49	0.96	0.03	130	15	145	0.90	0.03
10 Aug	0–10	30	8	38	0.79	0.07	69	5	74	0.93	0.03
	10-30	1	1	2	0.50	0.5	34	8	42	0.81	0.06
	0–30	31	9	40	0.78	0.07	103	13	116	0.89	0.03
12 Aug	0–10	22	7	29	0.76	0.08	49	6	55	0.89	0.04
	10-30	0	5	5	0.00	0	16	11	27	0.59	0.1
	0–30	22	12	34	0.65	0.08	65	17	82	0.79	0.05
17 Aug	0-10	26	1	27	0.96	0.04	74	8	82	0.90	0.03
	10-30	2	5	7	0.29	0.18	5	17	22	0.23	0.09
	0–30	28	6	34	0.82	0.07	79	25	104	0.76	0.04
19 Aug	0–10	23	7	30	0.77	0.08	63	5	68	0.93	0.03
	10-30	2	4	6	0.33	0.21	6	9	15	0.40	0.13
	0–30	25	11	36	0.69	0.08	69	14	83	0.83	0.04
24 Aug	0–10	13	7	20	0.65	0.11	19	4	23	0.83	0.08
	10-30		5	5	0.00	0	11	5	16	0.69	0.12
	0–30	13	12	25	0.52	0.1	30	9	39	0.77	0.07
All days	0-10	159	31	190	0.84	0.09	349	33	382	0.91	0.04
	10-30	7	21	28	0.25	0.12	127	60	187	0.68	0.07

Table 4.-Number and proportion of sockeye salmon by bank and distance from shore compared to other species captured, August 2021.

^a Other species include pink salmon (*O. gorbuscha*), Chinook salmon (*O. tshawytscha*), coho salmon (*O. kisutch*), rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), Dolly Varden (*Salvelinus malma*), and round whitefish (*Prosopium cylindraceum*).

		Effort in minutes								
Date	Location	4-inch mesh	4 ³ / ₄ -inch mesh	5-inch mesh	Daily total all sizes					
5 Aug	South bank	_	15.24	_	_					
	North bank	-	34.84	-	-					
	Total	_	50.08	_	_					
10 Aug	South bank	_	17.46	_	_					
	North bank	-	35.21	-	-					
	Total	_	52.67	_	-					
12 Aug	South bank	9.95	2.53	11.33	23.81					
	North bank	20.20	7.17	10.93	38.30					
	Total	30.15	9.70	22.26	62.11					
17 Aug	South bank	10.00	12.02	3.20	25.22					
	North bank	39.11	14.10	3.33	56.54					
	Total	49.11	26.12	6.53	81.76					
19 Aug	South bank	15.72	8.19	12.50	36.41					
	North bank	14.38	13.17	12.75	40.30					
	Total	30.10	21.36	25.25	76.71					
24 Aug	South bank	6.59	7.47	5.10	19.16					
	North bank	14.38	10.03	8.12	32.53					
	Total	20.97	17.50	13.22	51.69					
All days	South bank	42.26	47.67	32.13	122.06					
	North bank	88.07	79.68	35.13	202.88					
	Total	130.33	127.35	67.26	324.94					

Table 5.–Summary of drift gillnet fishing effort in minutes fished by gillnet mesh size, day, and river bank, 2021.

		Nu	Number of salmon captured				ber of other	r fish captured				
	Mesh size			•		Rainbow	Dolly	Round	Total	-	Sockeye	
Date	(in)	Sockeye	Coho	Chinook	Pink	trout	Varden	whitefish	other	Total fish	proportion	SE
5 Aug	43⁄4	177	4	8	0	5	0	0	17	194	0.91	0.02
10 Aug	43⁄4	134	8	7	0	5	2	0	22	156	0.86	0.03
12 Aug	4	43	0	3	3	5	2	1	14	57	0.75	0.06
	43⁄4	23	3	1	0	1	0	0	5	28	0.82	0.07
	5	21	3	6	0	0	1	0	10	31	0.68	0.09
17 Aug	4	60	9	7	0	1	2	1	20	80	0.75	0.05
	43⁄4	29	2	3	0	3	0	0	8	37	0.78	0.07
	5	18	2	1	0	0	0	0	3	21	0.86	0.08
19 Aug	4	36	6	1	0	0	0	0	7	43	0.84	0.06
	43⁄4	28	3	3	0	3	0	0	9	37	0.76	0.07
	5	30	7	1	1	0	0	0	9	39	0.77	0.07
24 Aug	4	15	2	1	0	2	0	0	5	20	0.75	0.1
	43/4	15	4	0	0	4	1	0	9	24	0.63	0.1
	5	13	6	1	0	0	0	0	7	20	0.65	0.11
All days	4	154	17	12	3	8	4	2	46	200	0.77	0.03
	43/4	95	24	22	0	21	3	0	70	476	0.75	0.04
	5	82	18	9	1	0	1	0	29	111	0.74	0.04
	Total	642	59	43	4	29	8	2	145	787	_	_

Table 6.–Number and proportion of sockeye salmon captured relative to all fish species captured by date and mesh size, 2021.

RECOMMENDATIONS

This 6-day pilot project assessed the feasibility of using drift gillnets as a sampling tool to quantify species composition and allowed us to develop data collection methods and scope staffing needs should future projects continue. Our results show that for the sampling effort and locations used in this study, drift gillnets were not able to capture enough Pacific salmon at RM 19 to meet the sample size goal of 43 fish from each of the 8 netting zones for all days sampled (Tables 2–4). Therefore, we recommend future projects be adjusted by increasing the sampling time for each day and (or) that the objectives be revised such that gillnetting effort is conducted in the fish wheel zones (0–10 m) where most of the Pacific salmon migration occurs because on some sampling days, there were no sockeye salmon and very few fish of any species captured in the offshore sonar zones (10–30 m; Tables 3 and 4). Increasing the netting effort would likely result in increased catches and augment the ability to detect any differences in species composition across the drift zones at RM 19.

A challenge in achieving adequate sample sizes as well as equal fishing effort (drift time) between river banks is that the south bank fish wheel zone is mostly near private property. When sport anglers fished from the south bank, per verbal communications with private landowners, sampling was not conducted in the south bank fish wheel zone, and to a lesser extent not conducted in the 10–20 m sonar zone, which contributed to small sample sizes and less fishing effort. Having less netting effort on the south bank, by default, increases sampling effort in all north bank zones. Adequate sample sizes were achieved in the north bank fish wheel zone on 5 of the 6 sampling days compared to just 1 of 6 sampling days in the south bank fish wheel zone. The differences in current speed (discharge) between riverbanks was noticeable because the duration of drifts in all the south bank zones (1 minute).

Another important aspect of this pilot project was to determine the feasibility of collecting, holding, sampling, and marking (visible external fin clip or tag) salmon captured during gillnetting operations. During this project, fish caught from drift gillnets were removed from the zone of capture and displaced downstream; the distance of this displacement varied considerably due to several factors such as number of fish captured in each set, species captured, mesh size, discharge, boat traffic, and the amount of handling time to remove fish from the net. Lack of workspace on the boat as well as achieving sample size objectives were also considerations. Based on the issues discussed here, we suggest that a separate study would be necessary for tagging projects.

The relative capture efficiency of gillnets varies by mesh size and fish species (Hamley 1975). We used 3 different mesh sizes during sampling (Table 5). Total catch of all species and catch of sockeye salmon were greatest with the 4 in (10.2 cm) mesh, whereas the 5 in (12.7 cm) mesh caught the least; however, the 4³/₄ in (12.1 cm) and the 4.0 in mesh were both fished nearly double the amount of time the 5 in mesh was fished. Previous projects at RM 19 employed 5.0 in mesh (Glick and Willette 2016). We recommend a sampling protocol that distributes fishing effort equally among the various mesh sizes if future projects use multiple mesh sizes, and it is feasible to design future objectives to look at differences in the species composition among various sized mesh gillnets.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thanks go to Ivan Karic and Stacie Mallette, who participated in all phases of field sampling; Eric Wood, for serving as our back-up field supervisor; and Dawn Wilburn, Bill Glick, Bob DeCino, Tim McKinley, Jim Hasbrouck, Jack Erickson, and Jiaqi Huang for project planning.

REFERENCES CITED

- Belcher, E. O., B. Matsuyama, and G. R. Trimble. 2001. Object identification with acoustic lenses. Proceedings of MTS/IEEE Oceans 2001, Honolulu, Hawaii 1:6–11.
- Belcher, E. O., W. Hanot, and J. Burch. 2002. Dual-frequency identification sonar. Pages 187–192 [*In*] Proceedings of the 2002 International Symposium on Underwater Technology, April 16–19, Tokyo, Japan.
- Cochran, W. G. 1977. Sampling techniques. 3rd edition. John Wiley and Sons, New York.
- Davis, A. S. 1971. Sockeye salmon investigations. Completion Report. Project No. 5-6-R and 5-18-R, Commercial Fisheries Research and Development Act, PL 88-304 and PL 88-309 (as amended), Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Juneau.
- Glick, W., and A. V. Faulkner. 2019. Operational Plan—Kenai and Kasilof River sockeye salmon inriver passage and escapement studies, 2019–2021. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Regional Operational Plan ROP.CF.2A.2019.04, Soldotna. <u>http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/ROP.CF.2A.2019.04.pdf</u>.
- Glick, W., and T. M. Willette. 2016. Evaluation of methods used to apportion sonar counts to species at the RM19 Kenai River sonar site, 2016. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Regional Operational Plan ROP.CF.2A.2016.16, Soldotna. http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/ROP.CF.2A.2016.16.pdf.
- Hamley, J. M. 1975. Review of gillnet selectivity. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 32(11):1943–1969.
- Marston, B., and A. Frothingham. 2021. Upper Cook Inlet commercial fisheries annual management report, 2019. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Management Report No. 21-26, Anchorage. http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMR21-26.pdf.
- Maxwell, S. L., A. V. Faulkner, L. Fair, and X. Zhang. 2011. A comparison of estimates from 2 hydroacoustic systems used to assess sockeye salmon escapement in 5 Alaska Rivers. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Manuscript Series No. 11-02, Anchorage. <u>http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FEDAIDpdfs/FMS11-02.pdf</u>.
- Namvedt, T. B, N. V. Friese, D. L. Waltemeyer, M. L. Bethe, and D. C. Whitmore. 1977 Investigations of Cook Inlet sockeye salmon. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Technical Report for the period July 1, 1975, to June 30, 1976, Juneau.
- Thompson, S. K. 1987. Sample size for estimating multinomial proportions. The American Statistician 41(1):42-46.
- Willette, T. M., T. McKinley, R. D. DeCino, and X. Zhang. 2012. Inriver abundance and spawner distribution of Kenai River sockeye salmon, *Oncorhynchus nerka*, 2006–2008: A comparison of sonar and mark–recapture estimates. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Data Series No. 12-57, Anchorage. <u>http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidpdfs/FDS12-57.pdf</u>.

APPENDIX A: SAMPLING FORM

KENAI RIVER RM19 NETTING FORM Pageof														
Date: Names:														
	Start Stop Species captured													
Rep	Set	Bank	Loc	Mesh	Time	Time	Sockeve	Pink	Coho	Chinook	RB	DV	Comments	
				<u> </u>										
	-	Const i	Ren: 8 sets 1 set at each location off each hank. Set: heatin 1 each day Bank: Bouy thrown towards (N or S) Location. EW= helow											
Chart	Time	Secchi	fishw	heel,	NS=nearsho	ore adjacter	it to sonar	: 0-10m	offshore,	M=mid	10-20m	n offshore	e and OFF=offshore 20-30m, Mesh in inches (4.75,	
Start			etc.)	Start	time: milita	ry to neare	st sec. w	hen bou	y is throw	wn Stop	time: m	ilitary to	nearest sec. when leads begin being pulled.	
End	End Comments: any pertinent info. Secch: nearest 0.05 m													

Appendix A1.-RM 19 Kenai River drift gillnetting sampling form